

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

**Finding Perfect** 

**Chapter One** 

**Chapter Two** 

**Chapter Three** 

**Chapter Four** 

**Chapter Five** 

**Chapter Six** 

**Chapter Seven** 

**Chapter Eight** 

**Chapter Nine** 

**Contact Colleen Hoover** 

Note to the reader: This short story focuses on characters in both Finding Cinderella and All Your Perfects. This will make more sense once you've read both of the novels that this short story ties together. Thank you and happy reading!

### Copyright © 2018 by Colleen Hoover

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying, recording, or other electronic or mechanical methods, without the prior written permission of the publisher, except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical reviews and certain other noncommercial uses permitted by copyright law.

This book is a work of fiction. All names, characters, locations, and incidents are products of the authors? imaginations. Any resemblance to actual persons, things, living or dead, locales, or events is entirely coincidental.

FINDING PERFECT
Editing by Murphy Rae
Cover Design by Murphy Rae
Interior Formatting by Alyssa Garcia, Uplifting Author Services

## **Chapter One**

"That's three for me," Breckin says, dropping his Xbox controller. "I really need to go home now."

I pick up the controller and try to hand it back to him. "Just one more," I say. Or *beg*, really. But Breckin already has on his ridiculous puffy jacket and is making his way to my bedroom door.

"Call Holder if you're this bored," he says.

"He had Thanksgiving dinner at his dad's house yesterday. They won't be back until tonight."

"Then ask Six to come over. I've hung out with you enough today to last me until Christmas break. I have family shit tonight."

That makes me laugh. "You said shit."

Breckin shrugs. "Yeah. It's Thanksgiving. I have family shit."

"I thought Mormons couldn't swear."

Breckin rolls his eyes and opens my bedroom door. "Bye, Daniel."

"Wait. You coming Saturday?" On our drive home from school a couple days ago, Holder suggested we do a friendsgiving while we're home on Thanksgiving break. Sky and Six are going to cook. Which means we'll probably end up ordering pizza.

"Yeah, I'll be there. But only if you stop pointing out my religious flaws."

"Deal. And I'll never call you Powder Puff again if you stay and play one more game with me."

Breckin looks bored with me. I don't blame him. I'm bored with myself.

"You need to go somewhere," he says. "You've been playing video games for twelve hours. It's starting to smell like a waffle cone in here."

"Why do you say that like it's a bad thing?"

"I meant it in a bad way." Breckin closes my door and I'm alone again. So alone.

I fall back onto my bedroom floor and stare up at the ceiling for a while. Then I look at my phone and there's nothing. Six hasn't texted me at all today. I haven't texted her either, but I'm waiting for her to text me first. Things have been weird between us for the past couple months now. I was hoping it was because we were in a new setting, both in our first semesters of college, but she was quiet on the drive home two days ago. She had *family shit* yesterday and hasn't even invited me over today.

I feel like she's about to break up with me.

I don't know why. I've never had a girl break up with me. I'm the one who broke up with Val. But I would think this is what it's like just before a breakup. Less communication. Less making time for each other. Less making out.

Maybe she does want to break up with me, but she knows it would hurt the awesome foursome we've got going on. We do everything with Sky and Holder now that we're all in college together. Breaking up with me would make it awkward for all three of them.

Maybe I'm overthinking things. Maybe it is college that's stressing her out.

My bedroom door opens and Chunk leans against the doorframe, arms folded. "Why are you on the floor?"

"Why are you in my room?"

She takes a step back so that she's technically in the hallway. "It's your turn to do dishes."

"I don't even live here anymore."

"But you're home for Thanksgiving," she says. "Which means you're eating our food and using our dishes and sleeping under our roof, so go do the chores."

"You haven't changed at all."

"You moved out three months ago, Daniel. No one changes in the span of three months." Chunk walks back down the hallway without closing my door.

I have the urge to run after her and disagree with her about people not changing in just three months, because Six changed in that short of a time span. But if I disagreed with her, I'd have to back it up with an example, and I'm not talking to Chunk about my girlfriend.

I check my phone one more time for a text from Six and then push off the floor. On my way to the kitchen, I pause at the doorway to Hannah's bedroom. She doesn't come home as often as I do because she goes to college in South Texas and has a full-time job.

I haven't found a job yet. That's not surprising, though. I haven't filled out a single application.

Hannah is sitting up in bed with her laptop. Probably doing homework for med school or something equally responsible. "Do they still make you do dishes

when you come home?" I ask her.

She glances up at me before looking back down at her computer screen. "No. I don't live here anymore."

*I knew she was the favorite.* "Then why do *I* have to do chores?"

"Mom and Dad still support you financially. You owe them."

*That's a fair point.* I remain in her doorway, stalling the inevitable. "What are you doing?"

"Homework," she says.

"Want to take a break and play video games with me?"

Hannah looks up at me like I've suggested she murder someone. "Have I *ever* wanted to play video games with you?"

I groan. "Ugh." This is going to be a long week.

Holder and Sky get back tonight, but they're busy until Saturday. Breckin has *family shit*. I can already feel the unavoidable heartbreak coming from Six, which is why I've avoided her all day. I really don't want to be dumped over Thanksgiving break. Or at all. Maybe if I never text or call or speak to Six again, she'll never be able to break up with me and then I can continue to live in my blissful ignorance.

I push off Hannah's door and head toward the kitchen when she calls for me to come back. I turn around in the hallway, my whole body floppy and defeated when I reappear in her doorway.

"What's wrong with you?" she asks.

My shoulders are sagging and I'm in the midst of feeling really sorry for myself, so I sigh dramatically. "Everything."

Hannah motions toward the beanbag chair across the bedroom. I walk over to it and plop down. I don't know why I'm allowing her to summon me into her room, because she's just going to ask questions I'm not going to answer. But it makes me a little less bored than I've been all day. And also, it beats doing the dishes.

"Why are you moping? Did you and Six break up?" she asks.

"Not yet, but it feels imminent."

"Why? What'd you do wrong?"

"Nothing," I say defensively. "At least, I don't remember doing anything. I don't know, it's complicated. Our whole relationship is complicated."

Hannah laughs and closes her laptop. "*Med school* is complicated. Relationships are easy. You love a person, they love you back. If that's not how your relationship is, you end it. Simple."

I shake my head in disagreement. "But I do love Six and she does love me and it's still very, very complicated."

Sometimes Hannah gets this look of excitement in her eyes, but it seems to happen at the worst moments. Like right now, as I tell her my relationship may be doomed.

That shouldn't excite her.

"Maybe I can help," she says.

"You can't help."

Hannah tosses her covers aside and then walks to her bedroom door and shuts it. She turns around and faces me, her eyebrows narrowed, the excitement in her expression gone. "You haven't made me laugh since I got home. Something is changing you, and as your big sister, I want to know what it is. And if you don't tell me, I'll call a Wesley family meeting."

"You wouldn't." I hate those meetings. They always seem to be an intervention for me and my behavior, when they're supposed to be about the entire family.

"Try me," Hannah says.

I groan and cover my face with both hands as I bury myself deeper into the beanbag. In all honesty, Hannah is the best voice of reason in our whole family. She might even be the *only* voice of reason. Chunk is too young to understand these issues. My father is too immature, like me. And my mother would flip out if I told her Six and my truth.

I do want to talk about it, and Hannah is probably the only person in the world besides Sky and Holder who I would trust with this. But Sky and Holder don't talk about it because we made them pinky swear they'd never bring it up.

I'm scared if I don't talk to someone about it, Six and I will be over. And I can't imagine a life without Six in it now that I've had a life with Six in it.

I blow out a conceding breath. "Okay. But sit down first."

The excitement in her expression returns. She doesn't just sit down on her bed. She hops onto her bed, next to a lump of covers, and sits cross-legged, eager to hear what I'm about to tell her. She rests her chin in her hand, waiting.

I take a moment to figure out how to start the conversation. How to summarize it without going into too much detail.

"This sounds crazy," I say, "but I had sex with a girl in the maintenance closet during junior year of high school. I didn't know who she was or what she looked like because it was dark."

"That doesn't sound crazy," Hannah interjects. "That sounds exactly like

something you would do."

"No, that's not the crazy part. The crazy part is that after I got with Six, I found out *she* was the girl I had sex with the year before. And...well...I got her pregnant. And because she didn't know who I was, she put the baby up for adoption. A closed adoption. So I'm a dad, but I'm not. And Six is a mom, but she's not. And we thought it would be okay and we'd be able to move past it, but we can't. She's sad all the time. And because she's sad all the time, *I'm* sad all the time. And when we're together, we're double sad, so we don't even really hang out all that much anymore. Now I think she's about to break up with me."

I feel protected by the beanbag right now because my gaze is on the ceiling and not on Hannah. I don't want to look at her after vomiting all that. But an entire minute goes by and neither of us says anything, so I finally lift my head.

Hannah is sitting as still as a statue, staring at me in shock like I've just told her I got someone pregnant. Because I did. And that's apparently very shocking, which is why she's looking at me like this.

I give her another moment to let it sink in. I know she wasn't expecting to find out she's sort of an aunt with a nephew she'll never meet during a conversation she probably expected to be about something a lot more trivial, like miscommunication with my girlfriend.

"Wow," she says. "That's...wow. That's really complicated, Daniel."

"Told you so."

The room is silent. Hannah shakes her head in disbelief. She opens her mouth a couple of times to speak, but then shuts it.

"So what do I do?" I ask.

"I have no idea."

I throw my hands up in defeat. "I thought you were going to *help* me. That's why I told you all that."

"Well, I was wrong. This is like...severe adult shit. I'm not there yet."

I drop my head back against the beanbag. "You suck as a big sister."

"Not as much as you suck at being a boyfriend."

Why does any of that make me suck? I sit up straight now and scoot to the edge of the beanbag. "Why? What did I do wrong?"

She waves her hand at me. "This. You're avoiding her."

"I'm giving her space. That's different."

"How long have things been weird between y'all?"

I think back on the months we've been together. "It was great when we first got together. But when I found out what happened, it got weird for like a day, but we moved past it. Or I *thought* we did. But she always has this sadness about her. I see it a lot. Like she's forcing herself to pretend to be happy. It's just getting worse, though, and I don't know if it's college or me or everything she went through. But I noticed in October she started making more and more excuses not to hang out. She had a test, or a paper, or she was tired. So then *I* started making excuses because if she doesn't want to hang out with me, I don't want to force her."

Hannah is listening intently to every word I say. "When was the last time you kissed her?" she asks.

"Yesterday. I still kiss her and treat her the same when we're together. It's just...different. We're hardly together."

She lifts a shoulder. "Maybe she feels guilty."

"I know she does, and I've tried to tell her she made the right choice."

"Then maybe she just wants to forget it ever happened, but you ask her too many questions about it."

"I don't ask her *any*. I never ask her. She doesn't seem to want to talk about it, so we don't."

Hannah tilts her head. "She carried your child for nine months and then put it up for adoption and you haven't asked her questions about it?"

I shrug. "I want to. I just...don't want her to feel pressured to relive it."

Hannah makes a groaning sound like I just said something that disappoints her.

"What?"

She looks at me pointedly. "I have never liked a single girl you've dated until Six. Please go fix this."

"How?"

"*Talk* to her. Be there for her. Ask her questions. Ask her what you can do to make it better for her. Ask her if it would help her to talk about it with you."

I chew on that suggestion. It's good advice. I don't know why I haven't just straight-up asked her how I can help make it better for her. "I don't know why I haven't done that yet," I admit.

"Because you're a guy and that's not your fault. It's Dad's fault."

Hannah might actually be right. Maybe the only problem between Six and me right now is that I'm a guy and guys are dumb. I push myself out of the beanbag. "I'm gonna go over there."

"Don't get her fucking pregnant again, you idiot."

I nod, but I don't go into detail with Hannah about the fact that Six and I

haven't had sex since we've officially been a couple. That's no one's business but ours.

I didn't think about that. The one time we had sex was honestly the greatest sex I've ever had. If she breaks up with me, we won't get to experience that again. I've thought about what it'll be like so much, in such extensive detail, I'm confident it would be damn near perfect. Now I'm even more bummed by our prospective breakup. Not only will I have to spend my life without Six, I'll also spend the rest of my life never being interested in sex again, since it won't be with Six. Sex with Six is the only sex I'm willing to entertain. She's ruined me forever.

I open Hannah's door to leave.

"Do the dishes first," Chunk says with a muffled voice.

Chunk?

I turn around, inspecting Hannah's room, looking for where Chunk might be hiding. I walk over to the pile of covers on Hannah's bed and pull them back. Chunk is lying with her head muffled by a pillow.

What in the hell? I point to Chunk while looking at Hannah. "She's been here this whole time?"

"Yeah," Hannah says with a careless shrug. "I thought you knew."

I run my hands over my face. "Christ. Mom and Dad are gonna kill me."

Chunk tosses the pillow aside and rolls over to look up at me. "I can keep a secret, you know. I've matured since you moved out."

"You literally just told me ten minutes ago that no one can change in a span of three months."

"That was ten minutes ago," she says. "People can change in a span of three months

and ten minutes."

There's no way she's going to be able to keep this quiet. I should have never said

anything to either of them. I throw the covers back over Chunk and make my way to the door. "If either of you tell them about this, I'll never speak to you again."

"That's an incentive, not a threat," Chunk says.

"Then I'll move back home if you tell them!"

"My lips are sealed," she says.

## **Chapter Two**

It's been a long time since I've knocked on Six's bedroom window.

She and Sky share a dorm on campus now, but it's on the fifth floor of a building and I can't climb that high. I tried a few weeks ago because our dorm curfew is ten o'clock, but it was almost midnight and I really wanted to see Six. I got scared halfway up the first floor and climbed back down.

I glance at Sky's bedroom window, but the lights are out. She and Holder still haven't made it back from Austin yet. I look at Six's window and her lights are out, too. I hope she's home. She didn't mention she was going anywhere.

But then again, I haven't asked her. I never ask her anything. I hope Hannah is right and I can somehow fix whatever is weird between us.

I knock quietly on the windowpane, hoping she's in her room. I immediately hear movement and then her curtains are pushed aside.

She looks like a fucking angel. Still.

I wave at her and she smiles at me. She actually looks happy to see me. That smile eliminates the majority of my nerves.

This always happens. I get paranoid and worried when I'm away from her, but when I'm with her, I can still see how she feels about me. Even when she looks sad.

Six opens the window and moves aside so I can climb inside. Her bedroom is dark, like she's been sleeping, but it's only nine o'clock.

I turn to face her and take her in. She's wearing a t-shirt and pajama bottoms plastered with pizza slices. It reminds me that I haven't eaten dinner today. I don't even remember eating lunch. I haven't had much of an appetite.

"What's up?" she asks.

"Nothing."

She stares at me for a moment and then gets this look in her eyes like she's uncomfortable. She walks back to her bed and sits down. She pats the spot next to her, so I lie down and stare up at her.

"I lied," I say. "It isn't nothing."

Six sighs heavily and then scoots down so that she's lying down next to me. She doesn't turn toward me, though. She stares up at the ceiling. "I know."

"You do?"

She nods. "I was expecting you to show up tonight."

I'm suddenly regretting coming over here and confronting it, because confronting it means action will be taken, and it might not be an action I want. *Shit. Now I'm scared.* "Are you breaking up with me?" I ask her.

She rolls her head and looks at me sincerely. "No, Daniel. Don't be a dumbass. Why? Are you breaking up with me?"

"No," I say immediately. Convincingly. "Dumbass."

She laughs a little. That's a good sign, but she looks away again, back to the ceiling, and offers up nothing else.

"Why are things weird between us?" I ask her.

"I don't know," she answers quietly. "I've been wondering the same thing."

"What am I doing wrong?"

"I don't know."

"But I am doing something wrong?" I ask.

"I don't know."

"What can I do to be better?"

"I don't even know if you can be any better."

"Well, if I'm not the issue, what is?"

"Everything else? Nothing else? I don't know."

"This conversation isn't going anywhere," I say.

She smiles. "Yeah, we've never been the best at deep conversation."

We aren't. We're shallow. Both of us. Our conversations are mostly shallow. We like to keep things fun and light because everything under the surface is so damn heavy. "That doesn't seem to be working out for us too well, so tell me what you're thinking. Let's dig a little and figure this out."

Six rolls her head and eyes me. "I'm thinking about how much I hate the holidays," she says.

"Why? They're the best. No classes, lots of food, we get to sit around and be fat and lazy."

She doesn't laugh. She just looks sad. And then it hits me why she hates holidays, and I feel like an idiot, and I want to apologize but I don't know how. So instead, I slip my fingers through hers and squeeze her hand. "Do holidays make you think about him?"

She nods. "Always."

I don't know what to say to that. While I'm trying to think of a way to make her feel better, she rolls onto her side and faces me.

I let go of her hand and reach up to her cheek, stroking it with my thumb. Her eyes are so sad and I want to kiss her eyelids, as if that'll make that look go away. It won't. It's always there, hidden behind fake smiles.

"Do you ever think about him?" she asks.

"Yes," I admit. "Not in the way you do, I'm sure. You carried him for nine months. Loved him. Held him. I didn't know about him until I already knew the outcome, so I don't think it left as big of a hole in me as it did you."

A single tear rolls down her cheek and I'm glad we're talking about this, but also very, very sad for her. I think this has affected her a lot more than I realized.

"I wish I could make it better for you," I say, pulling her against my chest. I always try to use humor to fix the sad things, but humor can't fix this and it's all I know. "It scares me because I don't know how to make you happy."

"I'm scared I'll always be sad."

I'm scared she'll always be sad, too. And of course I would take whatever version of Six I can get, whether that's happy or sad or mad, but for her sake, I want her to be happy. I want her to forgive herself. I want her to stop worrying.

It's a while before she starts talking again. And when she does, her voice is shaking. "It feels like..." She sighs heavily before she continues. "It's like someone took a huge chunk out of my chest. And there are two parts of me now that don't connect. I feel so disconnected, Daniel."

Her painful admission makes me wince. I kiss the top of her head and just hold her. I don't know what to say that'll make her feel better. I never know what to say. Maybe that's why I don't ask her about him, because I feel like she carries all the burden and I don't know how to lift it off of her.

"Does it help you to talk about it?" I ask her. "Because you never do."

"I didn't think you wanted to know."

"I do. I just didn't think you wanted to talk about it. But I do want to know. I want to know everything if you feel like telling me."

"I don't know. It might make me feel worse, but I do sometimes want to tell you about it all."

"Then tell me. What was it like? The pregnancy?"

"Scary. I hardly left my host family's house. I think I was depressed, now that I look back on it. I didn't want anyone to know, not even Sky, because I had already made up my mind that I would put him up for adoption before I came back. So I kept it all to myself and didn't tell anyone back home because I

thought it would make the decision more bearable if no one else knew about it. I thought it was a brave choice at the time, but now I wonder if it was a scared choice."

I pull back and look her in the eyes. "It was both. You were scared *and* you were brave. But most of all, you were selfless."

That makes her smile. Maybe I'm actually doing something right, here. I think of more questions to ask her. "How did you find out you were pregnant? Who was the first person you told?"

"I was late for my period, but I thought it might have been the travel and being in an entirely foreign situation. But when I didn't get it the second time, I bought a test. I took it and it wasn't one of those plus- or minus-sign tests. It was the kind that said, "pregnant" or "not pregnant," but it was in Italian. It said "Incinta." I had no idea what that meant, and I had taken the test at school, so I couldn't use my phone to Google it because it was in my locker. So after my last class, I asked the American teacher at my school what incinta meant, and when she said, "Pregnant," I started crying. So...I guess Ava was technically the first person I told."

"How did she react?"

"She was amazing. I really liked her, and for the first month, she was the only one I told. She went over all my options with me. She even went to my host family with me when I told them. And she never made me feel pressured, so it was nice to have her to talk to. When I decided on adoption, she said she knew a couple who was looking to adopt, but they wanted a closed adoption because they were scared I would change my mind in the future. But she vouched for them and I trusted her, so she helped us get a lawyer and was by my side through the whole process. And even though she knew the host family, she never tried to persuade my decision."

I don't want to interrupt her, because I've been wanting to know all of this since the day I found out she'd had a baby, but I can't get past that tidbit of information she just shared. "Wait," I say. "This teacher. She knows who adopted the baby? Can't we reach out to her?"

Six looks deflated when I ask that. She shakes her head. "I agreed to the closed adoption. We all signed legal paperwork. And despite all that, I've called her twice since I've been back, begging her for information. Her hands are tied. Legally and ethically. It's a dead end, Daniel. I'm sorry."

I deflate at that news, but try not to show it. I nod and kiss her forehead reassuringly. I feel stupid even assuming she hadn't tried that avenue already. I

feel stupid that I haven't tried any avenue at *all*. I haven't even offered. Now that I'm looking at this situation as a whole, I'm surprised she still puts up with me.

I keep her talking so she can't focus on the same thing I'm focused on—how much I suck.

"What was the delivery like?"

"Hurt like hell, but it went pretty quick. They let me keep him in my room for an hour. It was just me and him. I cried the whole time. And I almost changed my mind, Daniel. I almost did. But it wasn't because I thought he'd be better off with me. It was because I didn't want to hurt. I didn't want to miss him. I didn't want to feel the emptiness I knew I was going to feel. But I knew if I kept him, it would just be for selfish reasons. I was worried how it would affect me." She wipes at her eyes before continuing. "Before they came and got him, I looked down at him and I said, 'I'm not doing this because I don't love you. I'm doing it because I do.' That was the only thing I said to him out loud before they came for him. I wish I would have said more."

I can feel tears stinging at my own eyes. I just pull her closer to me. I can't imagine what that was like for her. I can't imagine how much pain she's been in this whole time. I can't believe I thought it was because of me. I'm not significant enough to cause someone the kind of pain having to say goodbye to your own child causes.

"After the nurse took him away, she came back to my room and sat with me while I cried. She said, 'I know this is the worst day of your life. But thanks to you, it just became the best day of two other people's lives." Six inhales a shaky breath. "That made me feel a little better in that moment. Like maybe she saw adoptions happen a lot and she could tell it was hard for me. It made me feel like I wasn't the only mother giving up her child."

I shake my head adamantly. "You didn't *give him up*, Six. I hate that phrase. You gave him a life. And you gave his new parents a life. The last thing you did was give up. You *stood* up."

That makes her cry. Hard. She curls into me and I just hold her, running my hand gently over her head. "I know it's scary because we don't know what kind of life he has. But you don't know what kind of life he would have had if you would have kept him. And you'd have this same fear if you made that choice—wondering if you should have given him to someone who could afford to care for him. There's so much unknown to swim around in and that'll probably always be there. You might always feel disconnected. But you have me. I know I can't change what you went through in the past, but I *can* make you promises.

And I can keep them."

She lifts her face from my chest and looks up at me with red eyes and a little bit of hope. "What kind of promises?"

I brush hair away from her face. "I promise that I will never doubt your decision," I say. "I promise I will never talk about it unless you feel like talking about it. I promise I'll keep trying to make you smile, even when I know it's the kind of sadness that a joke can't fix. I promise to always love you, no matter what." I press my lips against hers and kiss her, then pull back. "No matter what, Six. No. Matter. What."

Her eyes are still full of tears and I know her heart is still full of sadness, but through it all, she smiles at me. "I don't deserve you, Daniel."

"I know," I say in complete agreement. "You deserve someone way better." She laughs, and the sound of it makes my heart swell.

"I guess I'm stuck with you until someone better comes along, then."

I smile back at her, and finally, *finally*, things feel normal again. As normal as things can be between people like Six and me.

"I love you, Cinderella," I whisper.

"I love you, too. No matter what."

# **Chapter Three**

When I got home from Six's house last night, I slept through the night for the first time in a month. I went to bed relieved that we were okay.

But I woke up this morning feeling *not* okay.

Sure, our relationship finally seems stable. But Six is hurting. A lot. And I keep telling myself there's nothing I can do, but when I woke up feeling unsettled, I realized it's because I haven't even been trying. Sure, it was a closed adoption. Sure, I'll probably keep getting doors slammed in my face. But what kind of boyfriend would I be not to at least try to make Six's world better?

This is why I've been on the phone for two hours. I called seven adoption agencies and was told the same thing from each of them. They aren't allowed to release any information. I keep trying, though, because what if I get the one person who is a little bit unethical in my favor?

I was on the eighth phone call when Hannah walked in. I told her all about my conversation with Six and how I feel like I should be doing more to try to find out information about who might have our son, or if someone can just tell us he's okay.

I told Chunk, too, because she's Hannah's shadow every time Hannah's home from college.

I debated not updating them, because I really don't want them to talk about it at all ever, but it's also nice to have people who know the truth. And besides, three brains are better than one, even if they're all Wesley brains.

Hannah has called three lawyers in Italy so far. Two immediately told her no, there's nothing they can do to help. She's on the phone with the third one now.

"Adoption," she says, googling something. "Um. Italian. *Adozione*?" She waits for a moment, and then looks down at the phone with a defeated expression. "He hung up on me."

Every phone call leaves me a little more disappointed than the last.

"Someone has to be able to help," Hannah says. She falls back onto my bed, just as frustrated as I am.

Chunk is seated in my desk chair, spinning in a circle. "What if you're kicking a hornet's nest?" she says. "I mean, there was a reason they wanted a closed adoption. They don't want you guys involved."

"Yeah, because they were scared she'd come back to take her baby," I say. "But she won't. She just wants to know he's okay."

"I just think you need to leave it be," Chunk says.

I look at Hannah, hoping she doesn't feel the same way.

"I'm usually on Chunk's side, but I'm actually on your side this time," Hannah says to me. "Keep pushing. Maybe ask Six more questions. Someone has to know something. Italy isn't that big, is it?"

"Sixty million people live in Italy," I say. "Even if we contacted forty people a day, it would take us over four thousand years to make it through everyone in Italy."

Hannah laughs. "You actually did the math?"

I nod pathetically.

"Well, shit," she mutters. "I don't know. You just have to keep trying. Maybe the host family knows who it was."

I shake my head. "Six said they weren't really involved. There was an American who worked at the school who helped Six with the adoption. I asked Six if there was a way to get in touch with her, but Six has already tried to get information from her on more than one occasion. The woman refuses to share anything based on legal grounds."

Hannah looks hopeful. "But this woman knows? Someone knows where he might be?"

I shrug. "I don't know what she knows, exactly. I just know she helped Six."

"Call her," Hannah says.

"No."

"Why not?"

"Because Six said she's tried that already. More than once. The woman is a brick wall."

"But you're annoying. It might work for you."

Should I be offended by that? "What does me being annoying have to do with it?"

Hannah picks my phone up and puts it back in my hand. "You have to be persistent to be annoying. Be persistent with her."

I look at my phone. "I don't even know who to call. I don't know what school it was."

Hannah asks for the name of the town Six did her foreign exchange in, and then writes down three numbers as she searches the internet. I can't remember the name of the lady Six said she knew, but I do remember she said she was American. I call the first two schools and ask if they have an American teacher on the faculty and both say no.

I dial the third number with little hope left. A woman answers in Italian.

"Do you speak English?" I ask her.

"Yes. How can I help you?"

"I'm looking for a teacher. An American teacher. I can't remember her name but I need to speak to her."

"We have one American teacher on staff. Ava Roberts."

"Ava!" I yell. *That's it!* That's the name Six mentioned last night. "Yes," I say, trying to calm myself. I'm standing now and I don't even remember standing up. I clear my throat. "May I please speak to Ava Roberts?"

"One moment." I'm placed on hold and my heart is pounding. I use my tshirt to wipe sweat from my forehead.

"What's happening?" Chunk asks, appearing a little more interested.

"I'm on hold. But I think this is the right school."

Hannah brings her hands to her mouth right when someone picks up on the other end. "Ava Roberts, how can I help you?"

My voice is shaking when I start to speak. "Hi. Hello." I clear my throat again. "My name is Daniel Wesley."

"Ah, a fellow American," she says. *She sounds friendly*. "Are you wanting to sign up as an exchange student?"

"No. No, I'm in college. I'm calling about something else. It might be weird, I don't know."

There's a pause. "Okay," she says, drawing the word out. I hear the sound of a door close, as if she's giving this conversation privacy. "What can I help you with?"

"Um. Do you remember a student by the name of Six Jacobs? Or maybe she went by Seven Jacobs?"

The lack of reply on her end gives me my answer. She definitely knows who I'm talking about. It doesn't mean I'll get any answers, but it feels good to know I'm on the right track.

"Daniel, you said?"

"Yes, ma'am."

"Daniel, I hope you understand that I'm not allowed to discuss students in

any capacity. Is there anything else I can help you with?"

She knows. She knows why I'm calling. I can hear the fear in her voice.

"Don't hang up," I beg. "Please. I just. Okay, so I'm going to go out on a limb here and assume you're the teacher who helped Six find an adoption agency. She mentioned you knew a couple who was looking to adopt, which means you might still know the couple. Which means you're the only living person who might can tell us where our baby is."

More heart-pounding silence. "Why are you calling me? I'm not allowed to discuss this."

"We just want to know that he's okay."

"It was a closed adoption, Daniel. I'm sorry. I can't legally discuss this with anyone."

"I know." My voice is desperate. I'm scared she's about to hang up, so I just start talking faster, hoping to get it all out before she does. "We know you can't discuss it. We aren't asking for contact. And I'm not calling because we want him back. I mean, if he's not in a good situation, we do, but if he's happy and his parents are happy, that'll make *us* happy. We just..." I feel out of my element. Nervous. I feel like I don't know how to ask this woman for a morsel of information. But then I think about what Hannah said. She's right. I *am* annoying. I'm persistent. I blow out a breath and continue. "She cries, you know. Every night. It's the not knowing that kills her. I don't know if you have a way of contacting the people who adopted him, but if you do, maybe they wouldn't mind just sending her an email. An update. Even if *you* just respond with one sentence saying he's fine, I'm sure that would mean the world to Six. That's all I'm asking for. Just...it's hard, you know? Not knowing. It's really hard on her."

There's a long silence. *Such* a long silence. I'm worried she hung up, so I look down at the phone, but it still says the call is connected. I put it on speaker and wait. Then I hear something that sounds like a sniffle come from the phone.

*Is she crying?* 

Me and Hannah lock eyes and I know my expression must match the shock on her face.

"I can't make any promises," Ava says. "I can reach out to the adoption agency with your message. Email me your contact information, but...don't get your hopes up, Daniel. Please. All I can do is try to get a message to them. I can't promise they'll receive it or that they'll even feel comfortable answering it if they do."

I frantically point at my desk, motioning for Chunk to get me a pen and

paper. "Okay." I sound so desperate, I know. "Thank you. *Thank* you. You have no idea what this means to me. To us."

"You already sound excited," the woman says. "I told you not to get your hopes up."

I grip the back of my neck. "Sorry. I'm not excited. I mean, I am. But, a realistic excited."

"Do you have a pen?" she asks. She already sounds full of regret for even agreeing to do this, but I don't care how much regret she feels. I feel no shame.

I take down her email address and thank her two more times. When I hang up, me and Hannah and Chunk stare at each other.

I think I might be in shock. I can't form any words, or even much of a thought.

This is the first time I've ever been grateful for being called annoying.

"Wow," Chunk says. "What if it works?"

Hannah presses her hands to the side of her head. "Oh my God. I honestly didn't think we'd get anywhere."

I let it all out by punching the air with my fists. I want to scream, but Mom and Dad are here in the house somewhere. I pull Hannah and Chunk in for a hug and we start jumping up and down. Hannah starts squealing because that's what she does when she's excited, but it actually doesn't annoy me this time.

"What the hell is going on?"

We all separate immediately. My father is standing in the doorway, looking at us suspiciously.

"Nothing," we all say in unison.

He cocks an eyebrow. "Bullshit."

I put one arm around Hannah's shoulders and one arm around Chunk. "I just missed my sisters, Dad."

He points at us. "Bullshit," he says again.

My mother is behind him now. "What's wrong?"

"They were happy," my father says, accusatory.

My mother looks at him like he's lost his mind. "What do you mean?"

He motions toward us. "They were hugging and squealing. Something is up."

My mother is looking at us suspiciously now. "You were hugging? Like all three of you?" She folds her arms across her chest. "You three never hug. What the hell is going on?"

Hannah walks toward the door and smiles at my parents. "With all due respect," she says, "this is none of your business." Then she closes the door in

their faces.

I can't believe she just did that.

She locks the door, and when she looks back at Chunk and me, we all just start laughing, and then we hug again and resume our celebratory moment.

My parents don't knock again. I think we've thoroughly confused them.

Hannah falls onto the bed. "Are you telling Six?"

"No," I say immediately. "I don't want to get her hopes up. We may never hear back from them."

"I bet you do," Chunk says.

"I hope so. But like you said, there's a reason they chose a closed adoption."

"Yeah," she says. "The waiting is going to suck."

It really is going to suck. I sit down on my bed and think about how much it's going to suck. Especially if I never hear back from this woman.

I hope she knows I'll be calling her again next week. And the week after that. And the week after that. I'll call her until she changes her number or her name.

But if either of those things happens, I'll be back to square one.

Now that the energy is leaving the room, the reality of it all begins to sink in. The three of us grow quiet in the midst of our declining hope.

"Well," Hannah says. "If you never hear back from them, you could always do one of those online DNA tests and hope your child does one when they're older. There's always that."

"Yeah, but then Daniel would never be able to commit a murder," Chunk says. "His DNA would always be in the system." Hannah and I both look at her. Chunk shrugs off our wary looks. "I just wouldn't take that chance."

Hannah and I continue to stare at her. "You scare me," I say.

"Not as much as the idea of you being a dad scares *me*," Chunk retorts. Loudly.

I cover her mouth with my hand, staring at the door to my bedroom. "Shh. They could still be at the door," I whisper. I slowly release my hand from her mouth.

Hannah pipes up from her position on the bed. "Oh, man. I didn't think about that. If this works out, you're gonna have to tell Mom and Dad."

I didn't think about that, either. But finding out even the most insignificant information for Six would be worth my parents' anger.

Chunk starts giggling. "Dude, you're gonna be in so much trouble."

Hannah laughs, too. I glare at her, because I thought we were on the same team, but that cruel excitement is back in her eyes.

"You know," I say, "for a moment there, I felt like the three of us bonded. But now I see that the two of you still find pleasure in the idea of my failure."

I open the door and motion for them to leave my room. "You can go now. You two are no longer needed here."

Hannah hops off the bed and grabs Chunk's hand, pulling her out of the chair. "We want this to work out for you, Daniel," Hannah says on her way out the door. "But we also look forward to shit hitting the fan when Mom and Dad find out."

"Yes," Chunk agrees. "Looking very forward to that." I close the door and lock them out of my bedroom.

## **Chapter Four**

We decided on Sky's house for our friendsgiving because Karen and Jack will be gone most of the day. Six recruited me to help cook the dressing and I've never cooked in my life, so I've been more of a nuisance than a help. Sky is doing the baking because she makes the best cookies in the world, according to Holder.

But when I drop the second egg in two minutes, Six finally regrets her choice. "Just go hang out with Holder and Breckin in the living room," she says. "I feel like it'll be easier without you in the kitchen."

I don't take any offense because it's the truth.

I go to the living room and sit next to Breckin. He's playing a game with Holder. "You winning, Powder Puff?"

He lazily turns his head and looks at me, annoyed. "We went an entire week without you calling me that. I thought you actually learned something in college."

"What could I learn that would make me stop calling you Powder Puff?"

"Oh, I don't know. Decency?"

Holder laughs from the recliner he's sprawled out in. I glare in his direction. "What are you laughing at, Pimple Dick?"

"Breckin's right," Holder says. "Sometimes I think maybe you're maturing, but then you go and say something ignorant again to set me straight. Still the same 'ol Daniel."

I shake my head. "I thought that was why you like me, because I don't change. I'm myself all the time."

"I think that's the problem," Breckin says. "You don't evolve. But you're getting better. I haven't heard you use the *R* word in a derogatory way since you've been home."

"What's the *R* word?" I ask. I have no idea what he's talking about.

He begins to spell it out for me. "R-E-T-A-R—"

I cut Breckin off. "Oh. That," I say. "Yeah, I learned not to say that when a

chick in my economics class smacked me in the back of the head with her notebook."

"Maybe there's hope for you yet," Breckin says. "Come to think of it, I did seem to hate you a lot more in high school. But I wouldn't hate you at all if you'd stop calling me Powder Puff."

"Aren't you on Twitter?" Holder asks. "Don't you see what happens to people like you?"

"People like me?"

"Yeah. Guys who say insensitive shit because they think it makes them look cool and careless."

"I don't think I'm cool and careless. I just had no idea Powder Puff was insensitive."

"Bullshit," Holder says with a fake cough.

"Okay, so maybe I knew it was insensitive," I admit, looking back at Breckin. "But it's a joke."

"Well," Breckin says, "as someone who identifies as a gay male, I feel it's my duty to teach you how to be more sensitive. Powder Puff is insulting. So is the *R* word. And *most* of the nicknames you give to people."

"Yeah," Holder says. "Stop calling my girlfriend Cheese Tits."

"But...it's a joke. I don't even know what Cheese Tits or Powder Puff mean."

Holder turns his head and looks at me. "I know you don't. Neither do I. But Breckin is right. You're an asshole sometimes and you should stop being an asshole sometimes."

Shit. I seem to be learning a lot of what people think about me over Thanksgiving break, whether I want to or not. So far, I've learned I'm insensitive. I'm an asshole. I'm annoying. I'm a guy. What else is wrong with me?

"That means I have to come up with a new nickname for you," I say to Breckin.

"You could just call me Breckin."

I nod. "I will. For now."

That seems to satisfy him. I lean back, just as my phone rings. I fish it out of my pocket and look at the incoming call. It's an unknown number.

I stand up. My heart feels like it's still on the couch. I can feel adrenaline rush through me as I swipe to answer the phone. It might be a telemarketer, but it might not be, so I rush across the living room and go outside to take the phone

call in private.

"Hello?" No one says anything, so I repeat myself. "Hello? It's Daniel. Hello?"

If it is a telemarketer, they've probably never heard a guy sound so desperate to talk to one of them before.

A man clears his throat, and then says, "Hi. Daniel Wesley?"

I'm pacing the front yard, gripping the back of my neck. "Yes. Who is this?" "I'm...well. I'm your child's father."

I stop pacing. In fact, I bend over at the waist when I hear those words. I feel like my stomach just fell onto the ground. I feel like *I'm* about to fall to the ground.

Holy. Fucking. Shit. *Don't say anything stupid, Daniel. Don't screw this up.* "Do you have a second to chat?" the guy asks.

I nod frantically. "Yes. Yes, of course." I walk to the front patio and take a seat. I can barely feel my legs. "Thank you for calling, sir. Thank you so much. Can I just ask how he's doing? Is he good? Healthy? Is he happy?"

I should probably get Six for this conversation. I feel awful being feet away from her and she has no idea that I'm on the phone with a man who knows where our son is. But I'm worried there's a chance he's not calling with good news, so I stay seated until I can find out more information.

"He's..." The man is hesitant. He pauses for a moment. "Listen, Daniel. I don't know you. And I don't know my son's biological mother. But I know my wife, and she has been through hell. The last thing I want to do is bring stress or pain back into her life, because she's in such a good place right now. I need to know what your intentions are before I tell her you've reached out. Before I decide to share anything with you. I hope you understand that."

"She doesn't know you're talking to me right now?"

"No. She doesn't. And I haven't decided if I'm even going to tell her about this conversation yet."

Yet.

I cling to that word. That word means this phone call is the one deciding factor in whether or not Six and I will know what happened to our child.

Yeah, no pressure or anything. Christ.

I think about what Hannah said. Be persistent.

"Okay. Well. My name is Daniel. I'm nineteen. My girlfriend, Six...she's the biological mother. And..." I stand up again, feeling the pressure of this entire conversation and just how much is riding on my shoulders right now. "Sorry. I

just need a minute."

The man says, "It's okay. Take all the time you need."

I blow out a calming breath. I look at the house and into the window of the kitchen. Six is in there, oblivious to what's going on out here. Oblivious to the fact that I'm speaking to a man who knows where her child is.

Our child.

But honestly...her child. The baby she grew and carried for nine months. The burden she still carries.

I know he's my son, but I'd be lying to myself if I said I was talking to this man and feeling this nervous because of how I feel about a child I've never met. I'm not doing this for him. I'm confident Six made the right choice.

Everything I'm doing, I'm doing for Six. And I don't want to let her down. She needs this more than anyone has ever needed anything. And sadly, the future of her happiness is in my hands. My tiny, tiny hands.

I blow out a calming breath, hoping I can be as candid as I need to be with this guy.

"Can I ask you a question?" I ask him.

"Go ahead."

"Why did you adopt him? Can you and your wife not have children?"

The man is silent for a moment. "No. We can't. We tried for several years, and then my wife had a hysterectomy."

I can hear in his voice how hard it was just for him to say, much less live through it. It makes me think his wife has been through the same kind of pain Six has been through. "Would you have stayed married to her no matter what? If you adopted a baby or not?"

"Of course," the man says. "She's the love of my life. But this child means the world to us, so if you're thinking about trying to—"

"Just hear me out," I say. "Six is the love of *my* life. I know I'm only nineteen, but she's the best thing that's ever happened to me. And seeing her sad is just... It's unbearable, man. It's fucking unbearable. She just needs to know he's okay. She needs to know she made the right decision. And I'd be lying to you if I said I need this too, because I don't. Not as much as her. I just want her to be whole again. This broke her. And until she knows her little boy is happy and healthy, I don't know that she'll ever heal. So yeah, I guess that's all I'm asking for. I want to see her happy, and right now, you and your wife are literally the only people in the world who can give her that."

I press my hand to my forehead. I shouldn't have cussed. I said fucking and

that probably annoyed him. I feel every bit of the immature teenager that I still am while talking to this man.

There's a long silence, but I know he's still on the phone because I hear him sigh heavily. Then he says, "I'll talk to my wife. I'm going to let this be her decision and I'm going to support whatever that decision is. I have your contact information. If you don't hear from us, I need to ask you to let this go. As much as I wish I could help you, I can't promise anything."

I pump my fist in the air. I try not to sound too excited when I say, "Okay. Thank you. That's all I was hoping for. Thank you."

"Daniel?" he says.

"Yes, sir?"

"However this turns out...thank you."

He hasn't said a single word about our son, but I hear it all in that thank you. That has to mean our little boy is doing well and making them happy.

He hangs up after saying that.

And then I'm left with this emptiness. My God, it's so heavy.

Being so close but still so fucking far away.

I take a seat on the patio chair again. Part of me wants to run inside and swing Six around and tell her everything that just happened. Every word of that conversation. But the realistic side of me knows that the conversation I just had might mean absolutely nothing. I may never hear from him again. And if I don't, that means no matter how much I reach out to whoever I can reach out to, this couple's decision is final. And we're legally bound to accept that.

I bury my face in my hands because before this moment, I had hope that I could place in a lot of different areas. If one of my attempts didn't work out, I knew I could try something else to find him.

But now, all our hope has been placed on this one conversation. This one man.

We're in the middle of the biggest trial of our lives and we have a jury of one deciding our future.

"Hey."

I wipe my eyes and look away from the front door Six just walked out of. I stand up, facing the opposite direction from her. I shove my phone in my pocket.

"Daniel? Are you crying?"

I run my hands under my eyes again "No. Allergies." I turn and face her, plastering on the fakest smile I've ever given anyone.

"You don't have allergies."

"I don't?"

"No." She steps closer to me and puts her hands on my chest. Her eyes are filled with concern. "What's wrong? Why are you crying? You never cry."

I take her face in my hands and I press my forehead to hers. I feel her arms snake around my waist. "Six, I tell you everything," I whisper. "But I don't want to talk about this. Not yet. Just give me time to process it, okay?"

"You're scaring me."

"I'm fine. Perfectly fine. I just had a moment and I need you to trust me." I wrap my arms around her and hug her tight. "I'm hungry. I just want to eat all the food and hang out with you and my friends and not think about anything else today. I'm fine. I promise."

She nods against my shoulder. "Okay. But I ruined the dressing, so pizza is on the way."

I laugh. "I figured as much."

## **Chapter Five**

It's been eight hours since the man called. I've checked my phone every five minutes for an email or a missed call or a text.

Nothing.

He didn't say when he was going to talk to his wife. He might be waiting for the perfect moment. That could be weeks or months. Or maybe he already talked to her and she decided she didn't want communication.

Maybe I'm going to spend the rest of my life looking down at my phone, waiting for them to contact me. I should have told him to at least tell me if they chose not to communicate with us. At least then I would have a definitive answer.

"Your turn, Daniel," Jack says to me.

I rest my phone back on the table and roll the dice. I suggested we all play Monopoly when Jack and Karen got home earlier. I needed my mind to be on something else, but this game is so damn slow. Holder demands to be the banker because he doesn't trust me and he counts everyone's money three times.

I move my thimble and land on Park Place. "I'll buy it," I say.

"That'll be three hundred and fifty dollars," Holder says.

I pay him in fives because for some reason, it's all I have. I watch him count it. Then he counts it again. He starts to put it in the tray, but then he picks up the wad of fives and starts to count them for a *third* time.

"Christ. Hurry the hell up," I groan.

"Language," Jack says.

"Sorry," I mutter.

Holder stops counting the money. He's just staring at me from across the table.

"You okay?" Six asks, concerned.

"I'm fine," I reassure her. "This game is just taking forever because Holder counts money like a blind mole."

"Bite me," Holder says as he resumes counting my money for the *third* time.

"Moles are actually blind, so saying *blind mole* is redundant," Breckin says.

I turn my head and glare at him. "Shut up, Powder Puff."

"Okay," Holder snaps, grabbing the Park Place card back from me. "You're done. Go home."

I snatch the card back from him. "No, we aren't finished. We're finishing this damn game."

"You're making this not fun," Sky says.

"Seriously," Six says. She squeezes my leg under the table, a little forcefully. "Let's take a break. We can go to my house and make out. That might make you feel better."

That actually sounds way better and a lot more distracting than this stupid game. I toss my Park Place card on the center of the Monopoly board. "Good idea."

"Good riddance," Holder mutters.

I ignore them and walk toward the front door. Six apologizes on my behalf and that makes me feel like shit, but I don't stop her. I'll apologize to everyone tomorrow.

I've just never felt this pent up before. That phone call left me wondering if this is how Six has felt this whole time. Maybe she's felt this way since the day she put him up for adoption, and if so, I'm a complete asshole for never recognizing it or trying to do something about it before this week.

We've walked around to the side of her house because she still uses her bedroom window every time she leaves Sky's house. Right before she pushes it open, I grab her hand. She turns around and I slide my hand through her hair and pull her to me by her waist.

"I'm sorry. I love you."

"I love you too," she says.

"I'm sorry I'm in a bad mood."

"It's okay. You were definitely a dick in there just now, but I know you. You'll make it right."

"I will."

"I know," she says.

"I love you. No matter what."

"I know." She pushes open the window and then says, "Come on, I'll let you touch my boobs. Maybe that'll get your mind off things."

"Both of them?"

"Sure." She climbs into the window and I follow her, wondering how I

ended up with the only girl in the world who gets me.

And, despite knowing exactly who I am, she somehow still loves me.

When we're standing next to her bed, I kiss her and it's a good kiss. A distracting kiss. Right when I'm about to lower her to her bed, my phone vibrates in my pocket.

My adrenaline begins pumping even harder. I immediately pull away from her and look at my incoming text. I practically deflate when I see it's just a text from Holder.

### You okay, man? Need to talk?

"It's just Holder," I say, as if Six were even wondering who texted me. I slide my phone back into my pocket.

Six sits on the bed and pulls me on top of her, and even though I've been a complete asshole tonight, she lets me make out with her for fifteen minutes straight. She even lets me take off her bra. We haven't had sex since the day in the maintenance closet, and that's been a long damn time. But I like that we still have that to look forward to, and even though I can't wait for it to happen, tonight is not the night I want it to happen. I've been a brat tonight. She deserves to have sex with me when I'm not acting like a brat.

My phone vibrates again, but I ignore it this time. Holder can wait.

"I think you got another text," Six whispers.

"I know. It can wait."

Six pushes against my chest. "I have to pee, anyway."

I roll onto my back and watch her walk into her bathroom. I pull my phone out of my pocket and see a notification from my Gmail.

My heart twists into a knot and I hit the notification so hard, I'm surprised I don't drop my phone.

It's an email from someone named Quinn Wells.

I don't know that name.

I don't know that name and that's good. This could be good. I'm standing now. Pacing. The toilet is flushing. I read the subject line.

#### Hi.

That's it. It just says *Hi*. I don't even know how to interpret that, so I keep reading.

Dear Six and Daniel,

Graham told me about your conversation.

It's odd, because I've written countless letters to the biological mother of my

child before. Letters I knew I would never send. But now that I know you'll actually read this, I don't even know how to start.

"Oh my God, holy shit, fuck, fuck yes." I cover my mouth with my hand and stop reading because this isn't something I should be reading alone. Six needs to read this. She walks out of the bathroom and sees me standing by her bed. I motion for her to hurry up and sit down.

"What?"

"Sit. Sit." I pat the bed and sit next to her and she's so confused, but I can't find my words right now to explain what's happening, so I just start rambling and hope she can decipher it all. "So, I made some phone calls the other day. And then this guy called me today and I didn't know if we would hear anything back, so I didn't say anything to you, but..."

I shove my phone in her hands. "Look. Look at this. I haven't read it yet, but..."

Six grabs my phone, eyeing me with warranted concern. She breaks our stare and looks at the phone screen. "Dear Six and Daniel," she says aloud. "Graham told me about your conversation. It's odd, because I've written countless letters to the biological mother of my child before. Letters I knew..."

Six stops reading and looks up at me. I can see in her eyes she has no idea what this is, but she's hoping it's what she thinks it is, but she's too scared to think that.

"It's them," I say, pointing down at my phone. "Quinn Wells. That's her name. And her husband's name must be Graham. Quinn and Graham. They have our baby."

Six drops the phone and covers her mouth and I've never seen eyes fill with tears as fast as hers just did. "Daniel?" she whispers. Her voice is cautious. She's scared to believe this.

I pick up the phone. "It's them," I say again.

"How?" She's shaking her head in complete disbelief. "I don't understand. You talked to her husband? But...*how*?"

She's too scared to read the email. I probably should have explained it all earlier so this moment wouldn't be this chaotic, but I didn't know he'd talk to her today and that she'd actually reach out and *holy shit*, *I can't believe this is happening*.

"I called that lady you mentioned. Ava. Hannah said I was annoying and that I needed to be persistent and so I was and I literally begged her, Six. I didn't

know if it would work, but then he called today and said he was going to leave the decision up to his wife. I'm sorry I didn't tell you, but I didn't want to get your hopes up because I didn't know if she would ever reach out. But she did."

Six's whole body is shaking from the sobs. She's crying so hard now. Way too hard to read an email. I pull her to me. "It's okay, babe. It's okay. This is good."

"How do you know?" she says through her tears. "What if she's emailing to tell us to leave them alone?"

She's terrified, but she doesn't need to be. I don't know how I know, because I haven't read the email yet, but something about her reaching out tells me it's good. Quinn's husband seemed to really hear me out today and I just don't believe they would email us back if it wasn't good.

"You want me to read it out loud?"

Six nods, tucking herself against me. I wrap my arm around her as she presses her face against my chest like she doesn't want to see the email. I pick up my phone and continue reading the letter out loud. I start from the very beginning again.

Dear Six and Daniel,

Graham told me about your conversation.

It's odd, because I've written countless letters to the biological mother of my child before. Letters I knew I would never send. But now that I know you'll actually read this, I don't even know how to start.

First, I want to take this opportunity to introduce myself. My name is Quinn Wells and my husband's name is Graham. We were both born and raised in Connecticut. Circumstances led us to Italy for a time, however, where we were fortunate enough to be given the gift of adopting your beautiful baby boy.

I have to put my phone down and take a breath. Six lifts her face from my chest and looks up at me, alarmed by my pause. I smile at her and wipe a tear away. "She said he's beautiful."

Six smiles.

"I don't think I can read this out loud," I say. "Let's read it together."

Both of us are complete wrecks now, so I reach over and grab some tissue from her bedside and hand some to her. She sits up straighter and I hold up the phone. We lean our heads together and continue reading the email.

Our struggle with infertility has been a long one. It was very difficult for us to conceive, and when we finally did, it resulted in an unviable pregnancy and a hysterectomy. I don't want to inundate you with all the painful details, but please know that because of the struggles Graham and I have been through, our marriage has turned out stronger and full of more love than I could ever imagine.

And now, thanks to you, it is nothing short of perfect.

Being the young expectant mother you were, I can't possibly imagine how difficult it must have been for you to make the decision to put your child up for adoption. Because I am unable to comprehend the pain you must have faced, I sometimes wonder if you are unable to comprehend our absolute elation and gratefulness to you.

My sister was the one who told us about you. You know her. Ava. She grew to love and respect you not only as one of her favorite students, but as a person.

Forgive me if I have any of the details wrong, as not a lot of information was disclosed about your situation. We were told that you were an American student in Italy on a foreign exchange. Ava informed us that you were looking for a family to adopt your child. We didn't want to get our hopes up because Graham and I have been let down many times in the past, but we wanted this more than anything.

The night Ava came to discuss the opportunity with us, I immediately told her to stop speaking. I didn't want to hear it. I was scared to death that it would be a situation that might not work out in the end. The thought of it not working out after getting my hopes up was more terrifying to me than never entertaining the idea of it.

After Ava left that night, Graham spoke to me about my fears. I will never forget the words he said to me that made me change my mind and open up my heart to the possibility. He said, "If you weren't completely terrified right now, I would be convinced that we aren't the right parents for this child, because becoming a parent should be the most terrifying thing to ever happen to a person."

As soon as he said that, I knew that he was absolutely right. Becoming a mother isn't about securing your own happiness. It's about taking the chance of being terrified and even devastated for the sake of a child.

That also applies to you, as his biological mother. I know it was a hard decision for you. But for whatever reason, you accepted a future of unknown fear in return for your child's happiness. I will never be able to thank you

enough for that.

I'm still not sure why you chose us. Maybe it's because Ava was able to vouch for us or maybe it's because they told you our story. Or maybe it was chance. Whatever your reasons, I can assure you there are no two people in this world who could love your little boy more than Graham and I do.

We were advised by the lawyer to make it a closed adoption for various reasons. The main one being that it was supposed to give us peace of mind knowing that, if you changed your mind and wanted to locate your child in the future, we would be protected.

However, the fact that you were unable to reach out to us because of the closed nature of the adoption has brought me very little peace of mind. I have been full of fear. Not an irrational fear of losing our son to you, but a substantial fear that you might go a lifetime not knowing this beautiful human you brought into the world.

Even though he's not quite a year old yet, he is the most incredible child. Sometimes, when I hold him, I wonder so many things. I wonder where he got the adorable heart shape of his mouth. I wonder if the head full of brown hair came from you or his father. I wonder if his playful personality is a reflection of the people who created him. There are so many wonderful things about him and we want nothing more than to share those wonderful things with the people who blessed us with him.

We decided to name him Matteo Aaron Wells. We chose the name Aaron because it means "miraculous" and we chose Matteo because it's an Italian name meaning "gift." And that is exactly what Matteo is to us. A miraculous gift.

Graham and I made the decision to at least entertain the idea of reaching out to you a few weeks ago. We contacted our lawyer and requested your information, but I hadn't reached out yet because I was hesitant. Even this morning, after Graham told me about the phone call, I was hesitant.

But then something happened about an hour ago. Matteo was in his highchair and Graham was feeding him mashed potatoes when I walked into the room. As soon as Matteo saw me, he lifted his hands and said, "Mama."

It wasn't his first word and it wasn't even the first time he said Mama, but it was the first time he applied the term specifically to me. I didn't know how hard it would hit me. How much it would mean to me. I immediately picked him up and pulled him to my chest and cried. Then Graham pulled me to his chest and we stood there and cried together for several minutes. It was a ridiculous

moment and maybe we were both way too excited about it, but it wasn't until that moment that it felt so real and permanent.

We're a family.

He's our son and we're his parents and none of this would have been possible without you.

As soon as Graham released me, I told him I needed to write this email. I want Matteo to know that not only does he have a mother and father in me and Graham, but he has an extra mother and father who care for him as deeply as we do. A biological mother who cares enough for him that she sacrificed her own happiness to see him have a life that she, for whatever reasons, felt she was unable to give him at the time of his birth.

We would love for you to meet him someday. Feel free to call us at the number below, or email us if you'd prefer. We would be honored to finally have the opportunity to thank you in person.

I've attached some photos of him. He's the happiest little boy I know and I can't wait for him to become a significant part of both of your lives.

Thank you for our miraculous gift.

Sincerely,

Quinn, Graham, and Matteo Wells

We hug.

We hug and we cry. So hard.

## **Chapter Six**

I don't even know how to describe this moment Six and I are sharing. It's the best thing that's ever happened to me. I don't know that I've ever cried tears of happiness. I don't know that I've ever seen Six cry so hard while laughing. We're just a big, stupid mess and it feels really, really phenomenal.

Every time I start to speak, we cry. Every time *she* starts to speak, we cry. We can't even talk and it's been five minutes since we finished the email.

We keep waiting for the attachments to load on my phone, but they're taking forever, so Six grabs her laptop. I log in to my email and hit download.

When the first picture loads, there isn't even enough air in the room to fill our collective gasps.

He looks just like me.

But he also looks just like her.

It's so weird and amazing, seeing this life we created and it somehow makes me feel even closer to her.

"Oh my God," she whispers. "He's perfect."

"Scroll down," I say, too impatient to wait for more of him now that we got this small glimpse of him. We open up every picture. We zoom in on his features. He has Six's mouth and my eyes and a headful of brown hair.

We even zoom in on his surroundings. It looks like he has a big backyard. A whole playset he's still too little to use. There are five pictures total, and after we look at them each twenty times, I say, "We should call them."

Six nods. "Yes." She clenches her stomach. "I'm so nervous."

"Me too. Me too, babe."

She sits on the edge of her bed and I stand and pace while I dial the number Quinn listed in the email. I put it on speaker and when it starts ringing, I sit down next to Six.

"This is Graham."

"Hi. Hey, it's me. Daniel. We just got your wife's email." I feel like I should say more. Like *thank you* or *we love you* or *can we come meet him tonight?* 

"Great," Graham says. "Let me grab Quinn."

The line goes quiet and Six and I look at each other nervously. Then a woman says, "Hi. This is Quinn. Is this Six and Daniel?"

"Yes," we both say at once. "Thank you," Six blurts out. She's crying, but also smiling bigger than I've ever seen her smile. "Thank you so much. He's so perfect. We're so happy to see him so happy. Thank you." She covers her own mouth so she'll stop talking.

Quinn laughs. "Thank you," she says softly. "I meant every word."

"Where do you guys live?" I ask. "Are you still in Italy?"

"Oh. No, I forgot to mention that in the email. We moved back to Connecticut a few months ago. We wanted to be closer to Graham's parents."

"So Matteo is here? In the same country?"

"Yep."

Six wipes at her eyes. "And you really don't mind if we meet him?"

"We would love that. But we know very little about either of you. Could you tell us a little about yourselves first? Where do you live?"

"We both go to college in Dallas," I say. "Six wants to be a psychologist."

"Psychiatrist," Six corrects between tears.

"Something that ends in *ist*," I say. "I don't know what I want to be yet. We're both freshmen, so we're figuring things out as we go."

"And you're a couple? Still?"

"Yes. Well, we weren't technically a couple until after the baby was adopted. But we are now."

"I love that," Quinn says.

"Daniel is the best," Six says. "You'll love him." She looks at me and smiles. I squeeze her hand.

"You'll love Six more."

"I already love you both because of what you've given us," Quinn says. "Well, we know you guys are dying to meet him, but we don't want you to miss too much college. We would say come next weekend, but we'd like you to be able to stay more than just a day or two. How does Christmas break sound? It's just a few weeks away."

That sounds like a lifetime.

I can see Six feels the same way because she deflates a little. But then she says, "That's perfect. We'll be there."

"Yes. We'll be there."

Quinn says, "Do you need help with the cost of flights?"

"No, you guys have done enough," Six says. "Truly."

There's a pause, and then Graham takes over the phone. "You have our number now. We'll text you our address. Just let us know what days you want to come and we'll work our schedules around it. We're looking forward to it."

"Thank you," Six says again.

"Yes. Thank you."

Six is squeezing my hand so hard, it kind of hurts. Graham and Quinn both tell us goodbye. When I hang up the phone, we sit in silence for a moment, letting it all sink in.

"Shit," I mutter.

"What?"

I look at Six. "This means we have to tell our parents that they're grandparents."

Six looks worried, but only for a second. Then she grins. "My brothers are going to hate you."

I would expect that to alarm me, but it doesn't. "I don't care. Nothing can bring me down from this high."

Six laughs and then stands up, pulling my hands. "We have to go tell Sky and Holder!" Six crawls out her window and into Sky's bedroom window. I'm right on her heels.

When we burst into the living room from the hallway, everyone looks up at us. They're still playing Monopoly.

"We found him!" Six says.

I'm sure they can all tell we've been crying, which would explain why they seem so alarmed by the sight of us.

"Found who?" Karen asks.

Sky immediately knows what we're talking about and why we look so disheveled and elated. She stands up slowly and covers her mouth. Then says, "No."

Six nods. "Yes. We just got off the phone with them. We get to meet him next month."

"Meet who?" Breckin says.

"The baby?" Holder says.

I nod. "Yes. His name is Matteo. And he's adorable. He looks just like us."

"Who is Matteo?" Karen asks.

"What is everyone talking about?" Jack asks.

Holder and Sky are rushing across the room. Holder must not even care that I

lost my cool with him earlier, because he pulls me in for a hug. Six and Sky are hugging and squealing. Then all four of us are hugging. *God*, *I've done a lot of hugging this week*.

When we all let go, Jack and Karen and Breckin are still staring at us. More than annoyed. "What's going on?" Karen asks Sky.

Sky answers for us. "Daniel got Six pregnant and she had the baby in Italy and put it up for adoption and they found him!"

"I didn't know I got her pregnant," I say. I don't know why I say that.

"I didn't know it was him who *got* me pregnant," Six says.

"It's complicated," Holder adds.

Karen's eyes are wide. She's staring at Six. "You...you had a baby?"

Six nods. "Yeah, and no offense, but we don't have time to explain right now. We've got to go tell our parents that they're grandparents now."

"Your parents don't know?" Jack says. For some reason, he looks at Holder and glares at him. "Anything you and Sky want to share with us now that this is all out in the open?"

Holder shakes his head. "No. No, sir. No babies here. Not yet. I mean, not for a long time. Years."

As much as I like seeing Holder nervous, Six and I have stuff to do. People to inform. Parents to piss off. I grab her hand and lead her to the front door. "Sorry I was a dick earlier!" I yell back to everyone. Then I look at Breckin. "I'll never call you Powder Puff again. I'm a dad now, I have to set a good example."

Breckin nods. "Thanks. I think."

Six pushes me out the door. "Let's tell your parents first," she says. "We'll tell mine in the morning. They're already in bed."

## **Chapter Seven**

Six and I are seated on the loveseat together. She's clutching my hand. Hannah and Chunk are on the couch. My parents are too worried to sit down, so they're pacing the living room.

"You're scaring us, Daniel," my mother says.

"What is this about?" My father asks me. "You never call Wesley family meetings." He looks at Six. "Oh my God. Are you pregnant? Did Daniel get you pregnant?"

We glance at each other and then Six says, "No. Well...not...technically."

"You want to *get* pregnant?" he asks, still throwing out guesses.

"No," Six says.

"You're engaged?" my mother asks me.

"No," I say.

"Sick?" she asks.

I wish they'd just shut up and let me form my thoughts. This is a tough thing to blurt out.

"You're breaking up?" my father asks.

"You dropped out of college?" my mother asks.

"For Pete's sake, they had a baby!" Chunk yells, annoyed. Then she immediately slaps her hand over her mouth and looks at me with eyes as wide as saucers. "Sorry, Daniel. I was getting really irritated with all the guessing."

"It's fine," I assure her.

My parents look at me in dumbfounded silence. And confusion. "You...what?"

"Six and I...we um..." I struggle to find my words.

"We had sex in a dark closet about a year before we formally met," Six says. "I got pregnant. Found out on a foreign exchange in Italy. I didn't know who I had sex with, which meant I didn't know who the father was, so I gave the baby up for adoption. But when I moved back and started dating Daniel, we figured it out. And now we know where our baby is and we're going to meet him over

Christmas break."

That wasn't as delicate as I was hoping it would come out, but it's out there now.

And my parents are still silent.

"Sorry," I mutter. "We used a condom."

I expect them to be angry or sad, but instead, my father begins to laugh.

So does my mother.

"Good one," my father says. "But we aren't falling for it."

"It's not a prank," I say.

I look to Hannah and Chunk for backup, but their jaws are practically dragging the floor. "Wait," Hannah says. "You found him? You actually *found* him?"

Oh yeah. I forgot Hannah and Chunk didn't know that part.

Six nods and pulls out her phone to show Hannah. "They emailed us today." Hannah grabs the phone from Six.

My mother looks at Chunk like she's the only one who will be honest with her. "It's true," Chunk says. "Daniel told us a couple days ago. It really happened."

"We have pictures," I say, pulling out my phone.

My mother shakes her head and starts pacing again. "Daniel, if this is a joke, I will never forgive you."

"It isn't a joke, Mrs. Wesley," Six says. "I would never joke about something like this."

"Look, I know it's a shock."

My father holds his hand up to shut me up. "You had a baby and put him up for adoption and didn't *tell* us?"

"He didn't know until after it happened," Six says in my defense. "I didn't know who the father was."

My father is standing next to my mother, still glaring down at me. "How could you not—"

My mother puts a hand on my father's shoulder so he won't finish that sentence. "We need a minute," my mother says to us.

Six and I look at each other. We've been so excited, I don't think we really thought about how this would go down with our parents. We go to my bedroom, but we wait with the door open so we can listen to what they have to say. But nothing is said. Just sighs. Lots of sighs.

My father is the first to speak. "Do we ground him?" he asks my mother.

"He's nineteen."

Another pause. Then, "We're *grand*parents?" my mother says.

"We aren't old enough to be grandparents."

"Obviously, we are. And they said it was a boy?" she asks.

"Yeah. A boy. Our boy had a boy. Our son has a son. *My* son has his own son. I have a grandson."

"So do I," my mother mutters disbelievingly.

Six and I just wait patiently and listen as they work it out.

"I'm not ready to be a grandmother," my mother says.

"Well, you are."

"I wonder what his name is?" she asks my father.

I take it upon myself to answer this one. "Matteo!" I yell down the hallway.

My father peeks down the hallway from the living room. When I see him, I open my door all the way. We stare at each other for a moment. He looks disappointed. I'd almost rather him look angry. "Well," he says, motioning for us to come back to the living room. "Let's see the pictures."

We take a seat at our table and they all pass my phone around taking turns looking at the pictures. It takes a good ten minutes to sink in before my mother starts crying. "He's so beautiful," she says.

Six is squeezing my hand again. Then she starts to cry, because when Six sees anyone else cry, it makes *her* cry. "I'm sorry I let someone adopt him," she says to my parents. "I didn't know what else to do."

My mother's eyes swing to Six and she's immediately out of her chair. She takes Six's hands and locks eyes with her. "You have nothing to apologize for. Nothing at all. We love you so much, Six."

They hug, and dammit if it doesn't make *me* tear up. As much as they embarrass me, I really did get lucky when it comes to the parents I got.

Hell. I might have even gotten lucky when it comes to the sisters I got, too.

"I want to meet him," Chunk says. "When can we meet him?"

"Hopefully you all will. But we think it should just be the two of us this first trip."

Everyone seems to be in agreement with that.

"Oh, and one more thing," I add, turning to my parents. "Could you buy us plane tickets to Connecticut?"

# **Chapter Eight**

Three weeks later

We agreed to take an Uber to their house from the airport. Meeting our child for the first time in an airport seemed too stale.

We don't speak much on the way there. It's been the longest three weeks of both of our lives, and as much as we wanted to call them every day, we held off. We didn't want to scare them away.

"Neighborhood seems nice," I say as we grow closer. All the houses are decorated for Christmas. I look over at Six and she looks so nervous. Her skin is pale.

When we pull up to the address, we stare out the window for a moment. It's a nice house. Bigger than anything Six and I would be raising him in. Not that the size of the house matters, but I can't help but want the best for him.

"You ready?" I ask Six.

She shakes her head. Her eyes are red, and I can tell she's trying not to cry.

This is a huge moment for us. It's terrifying. But our Uber driver doesn't get that because he says, "Hey, I don't get paid for you guys to sit in my back seat and cry."

That irritates the hell out of me. I bump the back of his headrest. "She's about to meet her child for the first time, Dickprick! Give us a minute! Also, it smells like tacos in here. Get an air freshener."

The Uber driver meets my glare in the rearview mirror and then mutters, "Sorry. Take your time. Didn't know this was a big moment."

"Well, it is," I mutter.

Six rolls her eyes at me. "It's fine," she says, sniffling. "I'm ready. Let's do this."

We get out of the car and I go around to the trunk to grab our suitcases. One of them is filled with a week's worth of our clothes. The other one is filled with toys and clothes from everyone. Sky and Holder, Karen and Jack, Breckin, both sets of our parents. Even Six's brothers, who really did give me a hard time after

they found out, pitched in a few presents before we left.

The Uber driver actually makes himself useful and helps me with one of the suitcases. When he shuts his trunk, he looks at me. "Does it really smell like tacos in my car?"

I shrug. "Yeah. But the good kind."

"I had tacos for lunch. You have a good nose."

I kind of feel bad for snapping at the guy now, but he shouldn't rush his passengers like that. "I wasn't trying to insult you. I love tacos."

The driver shrugs it off. "It's cool. And hey, I'm also an Uber Eats driver. I can actually go get you tacos if you want some. There's this really great taco stand over on Jackson Street."

I am hungry. "How good? I'm from Texas and we have really good tacos in Texas."

"Dude, they're the best tacos you'll ever—"

"Daniel?" Six interrupts our conversation. She lifts a hand and waves it at the house behind her. "We're about to meet our son in a matter of seconds and you're seriously going to sit here and make me wait while you have a full-on conversation about *tacos*?"

"I... Sorry. I just love tacos."

"Tacos are great," the driver mutters. "Good luck with your kid and stuff." He gets back in the car and cranks it. We look up at the house, just as the front door opens. A man walks out. I guess this is Graham.

"Shit," I whisper. "He's good looking. I don't know why that makes me even more nervous."

"His socks don't match," Six says as we make her way up the driveway. "I like him already."

We meet Graham at the front door. He shakes my hand and introduces himself. "You must be Daniel," he says. He looks at Six and hugs her. "And Six." He pulls back and opens the front door. "How was your flight?"

We follow him inside and I set the two suitcases by their front door. "It was good," I say, looking around. This is so weird. Being here. I feel like I'm about to puke. I can't imagine how Six feels right now.

There are pictures lining the hallway that leads to the living room. Six and I walk slowly and look at them. Most of them we've seen, but some of them we haven't.

Quinn appears around the corner and she's exactly how I assumed she would be. Welcoming and happy and full of just as many emotions as Six. She introduces herself and then we're all just kind of awkwardly standing around.

"Are you ready to meet Matteo?" Quinn asks.

Six blows out a breath, shaking out her hands. "I don't want to scare him. I have to collect myself."

"Don't worry about that," Graham says. "We've spent the first year of his life an emotional wreck. Sometimes we just burst into tears while we're holding him because we're so damn lucky." Graham and Quinn smile at each other.

Graham motions for us to follow them into the living room, where we finally see our son. He's lying on the floor, surrounded by toys.

Seeing him in pictures was one thing, but seeing him in person is an entirely different experience. Six squeezes my hand and we both gasp. I suddenly don't feel good enough to be here. Worthy enough.

And now all I can picture is Wayne and Garth, bowing down and chanting, "We're not worthy. We're not worthy." I kind of want to drop to my knees in front of this beautiful little boy and do the same thing.

Quinn picks up Matteo and walks him over to us.

We both start to cry. Six touches his arm with her fingers and then his hair. Then she pulls her hand back and covers her mouth.

"You want to hold him?" Quinn asks.

Six nods, so she hands Matteo over to her. Six pulls him against her chest and presses her cheek against his head. She closes her eyes and just stands there, breathing him in.

It's fucking beautiful.

I want to take pictures, but that would be weird. I just never want to forget this. This whole damn moment. Seeing Six with our baby. Our happy and healthy and perfect baby. Seeing Six smiling. Seeing that piece of her that's been missing for so long finally reconnect all the broken parts of her.

We sit down on the couch with him and stare at him and take turns holding him.

"What's he like?" I ask. "Is he shy? Outgoing? Does he cry a lot? My mom said I was a crier."

"He's really friendly," Graham says. "Like he's never met a stranger."

Six laughs. "He gets that from Daniel."

Graham and Quinn are seated on the sofa opposite us. They don't look nervous at all about us being here. Quinn is snuggled against Graham, her hand on his chest. They're both smiling. It's almost as if a part of them was needing this, too.

"He's not a crier," Quinn says. "But he has a good set of lungs on him. Likes to hear himself jabber."

"He also gets that from me," I say.

We chat for a while, both of us continuing to take turns with Matteo. After we've been there for about an hour, Quinn is showing Six an album full of baby pictures.

Graham stands up and stretches out his arms, then drops his hands to his hips. He nudges his head toward the kitchen.

"Wanna help me with dinner, Daniel?"

I stand up, but I feel like I should warn him. "I can try, but I tend to only make the cooking experience worse."

Graham laughs, but heads into the kitchen anyway, expecting me to follow him. He takes vegetables out of the refrigerator and sets them on the counter. He slides a knife toward me and then rolls a tomato across the island. "Think you can cut a tomato?"

"First time for everything," I say. I start to cut the tomato while Graham assembles the rest of the salad. I feel like I should thank him, but I'm so awkward when it comes to having sincere conversations. I clear my throat. When he looks at me, I look back down at the tomato I'm butchering. "I can't thank you enough for doing this for Six."

Graham says nothing. When I glance up at him, he's staring at me. He smiles a little and then says, "I didn't do it for Six. I did it for you."

That makes me pause.

"When I called you that day on the phone, I was honestly prepared to tell you to take a hike."

I release the knife and the tomato and then press my palms into the counter. "Really?"

Graham nods as he meticulously chops up an onion. "I had no interest in bringing potential stress into Quinn's life. I didn't think it would be good in any capacity to have Matteo's biological parents in the picture. I've seen the stories on the news, in the papers. The devastating custody battles. I didn't want to open that door. But when I called you…I don't know. I could hear the desperation in your voice. I could relate to the fact that all you wanted in that moment was to see the woman you loved happy." He makes eye contact with me across the island. "You reminded me of myself, and what that felt like. The agony that comes along with not being able to take the pain away from the person you love more than yourself."

Dammit. Maybe it's the onions. I don't know. I have to look away from him because I feel my eyes dampen. I grab my shirt sleeve and dab at them. "Those are some strong onions, man," I mutter.

Graham laughs. "Yeah. I guess so."

When I've composed myself, I go back to helping Graham with the vegetables. Quinn walks into the kitchen and looks at the tomato on my cutting board. She laughs.

"What have you done to that poor tomato?"

"I tried to warn Graham that I'm bad luck in a kitchen."

Quinn motions for the knife. "I'll take over. Go hang out in the living room with your family."

I smile at her and let her take over. But when I leave the kitchen, I have to pause to collect myself in the hallway.

She just called us a family.

"Fucking onions," I mutter to myself.

I walk back into the living room and sit down on the couch next to my girlfriend and our little boy. I spend the whole time watching them together as I try not to cry. But damn, my emotions are being tested more today than the rest of my life combined.

Today has honestly been filled with the best moments I've ever spent with Six. Better than the maintenance closet, better than our first date, better than all the days we've ever spent together combined. We've wanted this for so long, and the entire last agonizing three weeks of waiting to be sitting here with our son has been torture.

But this?

This is perfection.

A damn Christmas miracle.

## **Chapter Nine**

We'll be staying in their guestroom for the week. At first, we were hesitant about it because we didn't want to impose. But they insisted, and we're two broke kids in college, so free sounded better than any other option. Apparently Quinn's sister, Ava, spoke so highly of Six, they felt like they knew her before they even invited us to meet Matteo. I'm sure it was hard for them, trusting us enough to not only bring us into their lives, but to also welcome us into their home.

I'm glad we chose to stay here because we really like them. Graham seems like a stand-up guy. He laughs at my jokes. That's important to me.

Quinn and Six hit it off immediately.

After they put Matteo to sleep, we stayed up for two hours, the four of us, just talking and sharing our stories. They've been through a lot, but knowing their outcome and how happy they seem makes me think Six and I could have what we have forever. True love exists and the people in this house are proof of that.

"Matteo seems so happy," Six says, falling onto the bed.

"So do they," I say. "Did you see the way Graham looks at Quinn? Eleven years of marriage and he still looks at her like I look at you."

Six rolls onto her side and smiles at me. She rests a gentle hand on my cheek and brushes her thumb over my mouth. "Thank you," she whispers. "You have no idea how much you've changed my life."

"Yeah?"

She nods. "Yeah. I know he's okay now. That's all I've ever wanted. And he's going to know us. We'll see him as often as we can. And I love them so much. So much. I was worried that meeting Matteo and the people who adopted him might make it worse. But when I see him with them, it's like he's theirs and I'm okay with that. He is theirs. He's ours *and* theirs." She leans forward. "I love you, Daniel Wesley," she whispers, her mouth brushing mine. "I finally feel connected again."

Six and I have kissed a lot since we've been together, but it's never felt like this. It feels peaceful and good. Like we're both in the best place either of us has ever been.

I love her so much. Sometimes I love her so much it makes me feel like I might puke. There's so much love, it fills me up until I'm nauseated. In a good way. If nausea can ever be good.

Six rolls on top of me, and I don't know what's about to happen or how far this kiss will go. Maybe really far. Like all the way. Or maybe not far at all.

It doesn't even matter because today is perfect. Today is the best day of my life and it'll always remain the best day of my life. No matter what.

Six pulls the covers over our heads. "I'm really proud of you," she says. "You went the whole night without cussing. And you didn't even give Matteo a nickname. I just knew you were going to slip up and call him Salty Balls or something."

That makes me laugh. "We'll be here for a week. There's plenty of time for me to slip up."

Six kisses my chin. Then my mouth. Then she kisses my...

Well. What happens next is no one's business but ours.

#### THE END

For more of Colleen Hoover's novels, visit

www.colleenhoover.com

www.instagram.com/colleenhoover

www.facebook.com/authorcolleenhoover

www.twitter.com/colleenhoover